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To the memory of Benjamin Robinson, the wisest man I ever knew

 

Of Arms, and the Man, I sing!
—VIRGIL

To the memory of the Man, first in war, first in peace, and first in the hearts of his countrymen.

—HENRY “LIGHT-HORSE HARRY” LEE,
EULOGY ON THE DEATH OF GEORGE WASHINGTON
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A WORD ABOUT WORDS


The letters and documents quoted in this book are presented as they were originally written, with one exception. I have eliminated the eccentric capitalization common during that age, which is tolerable in handwriting but distracting when set in type. Otherwise, spelling, grammar, syntax, and punctuation are in original form, and bracketed clarifications are inserted only when necessary.

The term “English” identifies people of Britain’s colonies in North America, whatever their national origins. “British” identifies those in or from Great Britain. The modern term “Anglo” refers to both. “Canadian” and “French” are used interchangeably, as they were historically.

The various collectivities of Indians are “nations,” a European term that is inexact when applied to the cultural identities of North American peoples but less so than “tribes.” Modern members of the nations prefer the term. The misnomer “Native American” does not appear. Indians today generally prefer the term “Indian,” although historically pan-Indian identities appeared after the time period of this book. Nor are there “braves” or “squaws” in this account; Indian men and women are “men” and “women.”

Names of individual Indians were historically rendered into English with a variety of spellings. I have adopted the most common versions in recent literature. Collectively, Indians take regular English plurals (“Shawnees,” “Delawares”) or accepted French (“Iroquois,” “Illinois”).



CAST OF CHARACTERS


Abercromby, James (1706–81), commander in chief, British forces in North America, 1757–58

Amherst, Jeffrey (1717–97), commander in chief, British forces in North America, 1758–63

Atkin, Edmund (1697–1761), superintendent of Indian affairs for southern colonies

Beaujeu, Daniel-Hyacinthe-Marie Liénard de (1711–55), led attack on Braddock at the Monongahela

Bigot, François (1703–78), notoriously corrupt royal intendant of New France, 1748–59

Bouquet, Henry (1719–65), deputy to Forbes in expedition against Fort Duquesne

Braddock, Edward (ca. 1695–1755), commander in chief, British forces in North America; defeated at the Monongahela, 1755

Cèleron de Bienville, Pierre-Joseph (1693–1759) French marine officer, commanded force in Ohio Valley, 1749, warned French government of English incursions into territory

Coulon de Villiers, Louis (1710–57), French marine officer, defeated Washington at Fort Necessity; older brother of Jumonville

Contrecoeur, Claude-Pierre Pecaudy sieur de (1705–75), French marine officer, commanded troops who occupied the Forks of the Ohio in April 1754

Croghan, George (?–1782), land speculator, Indian trader, and ally of William Johnson

Demoiselle (see Memeskia)

Dinwiddie, Robert (1692–1770), lieutenant governor of Virginia, 1751–58

Dumas, Jean-Daniel (1721–94), commanded at Monongahela after Beaujeu’s death; later commanded at Fort Duquesne

Dunbar, Thomas (?–1767), Braddock’s deputy, 1755

Duquesne de Menneville, Ange, marquis (1700–78), naval officer, governor of New France, ordered construction of fort at the Forks of the Ohio

Fairfax, George William (1729–87), William’s son, Washington’s friend, husband of Sally

Fairfax, Thomas (1693–1781), sixth baron Fairfax of Cameron, largest landowner in Virginia

Fairfax, William (1691–1757), nephew of Lord Fairfax, master of Belvoir, Lawrence Washington’s father-in-law

Fauquier, Francis (1703–68), succeeded Dinwiddie as lieutenant governor of Virginia

Forbes, John (1707–59), negotiator with Indians, commander of expedition against Fort Duquesne, 1758

Gage, Thomas (1721–87), battalion commander under Braddock; commander in chief, British forces in North America, 1763–76

Galissonière, Roland-Michel Barrin, marquis de la (1693–1756), governor of New France, 1746–49

George II (1683–1760), king of Great Britain, 1727–60

George III (1738–1820), king of Great Britain, 1760–1820

Gist, Christopher (1706–59), land speculator and surveyor, Indian trader, accompanied Washington to the French forts, 1753; later a captain and Indian agent in Washington’s regiment

Glen, James (1701–77), governor of South Carolina

Halkett, Francis (?–1760), son of Peter, Forbes’s brigade major

Halkett, Sir Peter (1695–1755), colonel of 44th Regiment of Foot, killed at the Monongahela

Johnson, William (1715–74), British superintendent of Indian affairs for northern colonies

Joncaire Chabert (Daniel-Marie Chabert de Joncaire de Claussonne, 1714–71), French Indian agent

Jonquière, Jacques-Pierre de Taffanel, marquis de la (1685–1752), governor of New France, 1749–52

Jumonville, Joseph Coulon de Villiers de (1718–54), French marine officer, killed at Jumonville Glen, 1754; younger brother of Coulon de Villiers

Langlade, Charles-Michel Mouet de (1729–1801), led attack on Pickawillany, 1752

Legardeur de Saint-Pierre, Jacques (1701–55), French marine officer commanding forces in the Ohio country, received Washington at Fort de la rivière aux Boeufs (Fort Le Boeuf), 1753

Lignery, François-Marie le marchand de (1703–59), French marine officer, commanded Fort Duquesne as Forbes approached, 1758

Longueuil, Charles le Moyne, baron de (1687–1755), acting governor of New France, 1752

Louis XV (1710–74), king of France, 1715–74

Loudoun, John Campbell, earl of (1705–82), succeeded Shirley as commander in chief, British forces in North America

Marin, Pierre-Paul de la Malgue, sieur de (1692–1753), French marine officer, commanded the troops sent into the Ohio Valley to build forts, 1753

Memeskia, aka Old Briton or la Demoiselle (1695–1752), Miami chief who defied the French; killed and eaten at Pickawillany, 1752

Mercer, George (1733–1784), aide-de-camp then company commander under Washington

Montcalm de Saint-Véran, Louis-Joseph de Montcalm-Grozon, marquis de (1712–59), French military commandant in North America, 1756–59; killed at Quebec

Newcastle, Thomas Pelham-Holles, duke of (1693–1768), prime minister of Great Britain, 1757–62

Orme, Robert (?–1790), Braddock’s principal aide-de-camp, wounded at Monongahela

Péan, Michel-Jean-Hugues, chevalier de Saint-Michel (1723–82), succeeded Marin in command of Ohio forts

Pépin, Michel dit La Force (1721–64?), French commissary in Ohio, captured at Jumonville Glen

Pitt, William (1708–78), prime minister of Great Britain, 1757–61

Pompadour, Jeanne-Antoinette Poisson le Normant d’Etoiles, madame de (1721–64), Louis XV’s mistress

Pontiac (1712?–69), Ottawa leader in a pan-Indian rebellion against British that began in 1763 and took on his name

Robinson, John (1705–66), speaker of the Virginia assembly, treasurer of the colony

St. Clair, Sir John (?–1767), deputy quartermaster general, British forces in North America, 1754–67

Scarouady (?–1758), Oneida sachem who succeeded Tanaghrisson as Half-King

Shirley, William (1694–1771), governor of Massachusetts, commander in chief after Braddock

Stanwix, John (ca. 1690–1765), British commander in southern district, 1756–58

Stephen, Adam (ca. 1718–91), with Washington at Fort Necessity; lieutenant colonel of Virginia Regiment

Stobo, Robert (1727–70?), officer in Virginia militia, one of two who stayed with the French as hostage against the return of the French prisoners taken at Jumonville Glen

Tanaghrisson, aka Half-King (?–1754), Mingo leader of Iroquois affiliates in Ohio Valley

Teedyuscung (1700–63), Delaware leader, famous orator, occupied middle ground between French and English, involved in several dubious land deals

Van Braam, Jacob (1725–1784), Washington’s translator in 1753, company commander 1754, held hostage by French six years under terms of capitulation of Fort Necessity

Vaudreuil-Cavagnal, Pierre-François, marquis de (1698–1778), governor of Louisiana, succeeded Duquesne as governor of New France

Washington, Augustine (1694–1743), George’s father

Washington, George (1732–99), Virginia military commander in the 1750s; married Martha Custis (1732–1802), 1759

Washington, Lawrence (ca. 1718–52), George’s half brother

Washington, Mary Ball (c. 1708–89), George’s mother
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A PORTRAIT OF THE
HERO AS A YOUNG MAN


But we are like the leaves that flowery spring puts forth, quick spreading in the sun’s warm light: for a brief span of time we take our joy in our youth’s bloom, the future, good or ill, kept from us.

—MIMNERMUS

The name George Washington evokes for many Americans the old man on the dollar bill, the “Father of His Country,” his face benign but expressionless, a mysterious figure as unreadable as a sphinx. For others, the sanctimonious cherry-tree killer invented by Mason Weems comes to mind, a miniature version of the wise and solemn man he would become. Both images are false.

Washington was a human being, who started out as a baby. So do we all, yet we shirk from picturing our great men (or women) suffering teething pains, throwing tantrums, becoming boys (or girls) with snot on their faces and scrapes on their knees, storming through adolescence, and maturing in the hardest school of all—life. If we are really to understand the Founding Fathers, we must grant them the one thing they shared with us—their humanity. They were not superheroes armed with powers beyond those of mere mortals, but people who achieved greatness despite their all-too-human flaws.

George Washington towered over his generation, and still towers over American history, but he was not born a great man. He became one during a long life of learning from trial and error—especially error. That continual self-education made him, in the end, the outstanding figure of his age. But if it is difficult to picture him as a toddler, it is harder to grasp that he—just like us—passed through adolescence before he became a man. This book follows him on that journey.

It began with an epic trek into a howling wilderness late in 1753, when Washington was twenty-one years old. He carried a message from the governor of Virginia to the French commandant in the Ohio Country, ordering him to leave territory claimed by Virginia, although as Washington himself admitted, he was not trained as a diplomat. The next year, having no military training either, he was placed in command of Virginia’s troops aiming to enforce the colony’s territorial claim in Ohio. This ended in a horrible disaster. Washington’s Virginians and his Indian allies attacked a French diplomatic party and massacred the wounded; this bloody affair was credited at the time and ever since as igniting the first real world war, called the Seven Years War in Europe and the French and Indian War in America. Vengeful French and Indians ran Washington’s little army down and nearly destroyed it before he surrendered.

Facing demotion in the aftermath, Washington resigned his commission, then in 1755 attached himself as a volunteer to General Edward Braddock, who was leading a new force of redcoats and provincials against the French on the Ohio. This ended with the Battle of the Monongahela, which Americans called “Braddock’s Defeat.” Yet Washington emerged from the debacle as the “Hero of the Monongahela,” earning him promotion to colonel in command of all Virginia forces. He spent the next two and a half years dreaming of winning honor and glory at the head of an army, but confined to life as that little army’s chief bureaucrat, begging for material support from his government while his starving men deserted in mobs. He at last took the field in 1758 in a new campaign commanded by a British general, but he earned neither honor nor glory.

This may well be called “A Portrait of the Hero as a Young Man.” Washington’s introduction to public affairs, in particular war, occurred while he struggled through his long adjustment from boyhood to manhood. He was self-focused, uneasy about his responsibilities, anxious about what others thought of him, and inclined to shade the truth—hardly the qualities of a good leader. He felt isolated and frustrated, so he lashed out against his superiors, both civilian and military. This portrait is an unfamiliar one to most Americans, and it is sometimes unflattering. But Washington’s behavior at the time was understandable for someone at his stage of life, deprived of the guidance of an experienced mentor. He was not incompetent, just young, a boy struggling to become a man, carrying responsibilities that should not have been placed on someone so young. Understanding this period is essential to understanding the future Father of His Country.

Washington survived a five-year ordeal unlike that endured by any other Founding Father. He emerged from it not yet the steady supreme commander of the army of the Revolution, but he had started on the road to that end. The former boy colonel of the French and Indian War became the great soldier and statesman of his age. How he began his remarkable life’s journey is what this book is about.



GEORGE
WASHINGTON’S
FIRST WAR



PROLOGUE
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PICKAWILLANY
 (June 21, 1752)


Cry Havoc! and let slip the dogs of war.

—WILLIAM SHAKESPEARE

The river gurgled. The only other sounds came from the rustle of leaves, the chattering of squirrels, the mating calls of birds, and the occasional barking of dogs. The men crept silently in small groups through the towering forest until they nearly surrounded the town, a collection of pole-and-bark wigwams and log huts and the Pennsylvania traders’ stockaded storehouse. The silent figures carried muskets and tomahawks, with ammunition and scalping knives on cords slung from their shoulders; some of them also had cutlasses. They wore, most of them, no more than moccasins and loincloths, some not even that much, and they had coated themselves with bear grease—a defense against mosquitoes and biting flies, and against an enemy getting a solid grip during a tussle. Each had painted himself in colored patterns according to his own way of projecting fierceness, and most had adorned their hair with feathers and other objects.

The town was Pickawillany, the main English trading post in the Ohio Country. Beside the Great Miami River, it was also the capital of the Miami (Twightwee) Federation, which was in rebellion against the great alliance among the French and the Great Lakes nations. The raiders’ aim was to end the rebellion, drive the English traders out of the country, and teach a lesson about getting in league with l’Anglais to the Miami leader, Memeskia—whom the French called “la Demoiselle” (“Maiden,” in the derisive sense of “Old Maid”) for his perfidy and the English called “Old Briton” for his loyalty.

There were about 250 men in the raiding party, Ottawa and Ojibway (Chippewa) fighters from around Michilimackinac, at the northwest end of Lake Huron, and a few Canadian militia. They followed a handsome and charismatic young man—really little more than a boy but already a proven leader. He was a métis (mixed blood) who had inherited his French father’s flowing black hair and his Ottawa mother’s glittering black eyes. Charles-Michel Mouet de Langlade was his name, a grand one reflecting his status among the habitants of western New France. He enjoyed even higher status among the Indians of the northern Great Lakes.

Langlade had led his men in a flotilla of canoes down the lakes to the French post at Detroit, which they reached in early June. There they gathered intelligence and whipped their spirits up for the campaign. They then paddled on to the Maumee River, stopping at the French post at the head of the portage to the Great Miami before crossing overland to Pickawillany. They ate the boiled meat of sacrificial dogs the night before the attack, their ritual way of acquiring strength, loyalty, and determination.

They had timed their assault well. Ordinarily there would be as many as fifty Pennsylvanians at the town this time of year, but there were only eight because most of the Miami men were out hunting for meat instead of bartering furs. Not enough land had been cleared for farming to feed the town’s population of about 2,000, and the previous year’s crops had failed because of drought. Only about two dozen Miami men, including Memeskia, guarded the place.

The town’s women were in the surrounding cornfields, pulling weeds and planting squash and beans, when the attackers exploded out of the forest, screaming war whoops and firing their muskets. The terrified women fled into the town. Langlade’s men tore across the fields behind the women, pouring into the settlement with hatchets drawn, still screaming. The first rush took down three English traders, two dead, one wounded, before the other five escaped into their stockade. Fourteen Miamis went down before gunfire and slashing blades, among them Memeskia. The women and a few men were prisoners.

After some ineffective sniping back and forth, the raiders called to the English in the stockade, offering to swap the women for the traders, whom they promised not to harm. There was no water in the stronghold, so the Englishmen agreed, and the exchange took place. The trader wounded outside the fort, however, was not worth saving as far as the Indians were concerned. They finished him off, cut open his chest, and passed his heart around, each taking a bite out of it. During this distraction, two of the surrendered traders escaped into the woods, along with a few Miamis.

Ritual cannibalism was a sacred custom among Langlade’s people, and he honored it, formally presenting Memeskia’s corpse to his men. They cut it up, boiled it in a large iron pot, and ate the great chief to ingest his spiritual energy. They also, in this peculiar way, reincorporated him into the French alliance. When they had concluded their feast, they torched part of the town and the trading post, rounded up their captives, and set off back to Detroit and eventually Montreal with scalps and a pile of loot. Pickawillany was left to the blowflies, the buzzards, and its dogs.1

Shock waves spread out in all directions, changing the alliances and attitudes of Indian nations great and small, revising the imperial policies of the French, and rattling the colonies of Pennsylvania and Virginia. In the Old Dominion the news was received with special alarm because Virginians believed that Pickawillany had stood in their own colony. Virginia’s charter claimed its borders ran west to the Pacific and northwest to, in theory, the Bering Strait. The hundreds of traders dealing with the Indians of the Ohio Country had been mostly Pennsylvanians, and Virginians had begun to take steps to counter the “invasion” of Virginia territory by men from the other province.

Now French-allied Indians had taken matters into their own hands, and this was interpreted in Virginia as foreboding a French invasion of the Old Dominion. What should be done about that? The colony’s leaders considered that question for more than a year until they settled on a solution. Implementing that decision fell upon the shoulders of an energetic and ambitious young man—really little more than a boy. His name was George Washington.



ONE
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CHUISING RATHER TO SLEEP IN THE OPEN AIR (1732–1753)


The imagination of a boy is healthy, and the mature imagination of a man is healthy; but there is a space of life between, in which the soul is in a ferment, the character undecided, the way of life uncertain, the ambition thicksighted.

—JOHN KEATS

The expedition had turned into an utter disaster. Men ashore and those in transports off Cartagena, on the northern shore of South America, were dying as fast as their bodies could be thrown to the sharks, the easiest way to dispose of the corpses. It was not supposed to be like this. The fleet was commanded by a proven winner, the bad-tempered but capable Admiral Edward “Old Grog” Vernon, who had captured Portobello, Panama, in November 1739. The trouble was, he commanded only the fleet. The army it carried was led at first by Major General Charles, Viscount Cathcart, who dropped dead in December 1740. He was succeeded by the pigheaded Brigadier Thomas Wentworth, a mediocrity who had risen in the British army thanks to connections and enough money to buy a commission.

The present war was an outgrowth of a colonial dispute between Britain and Spain in the Caribbean, which started when a Spanish ship stopped a British merchantman skippered by Robert Jenkins, who lost an ear in a fight with the boarding party. The War of Jenkins’ Ear gave London an excuse to pluck some wealth from the Spanish Empire. After Portobello, Cartagena should fall easily under the Union Jack, and then the big prize: Havana, Cuba.

London had ordered the colonial governors in North America to raise a regiment of volunteers commanded by American officers to reinforce the regulars. Volunteers, however, did not exactly flock to the king’s colors. Virginia provided 400 men in four companies: vagabonds, drunkards, thieves, highwaymen, and convicts, the dregs of society more or less forced into service to get rid of them. Wentworth inspected the 3,000 Americans in Jamaica in January 1741 and described them as “all the banditry the colonies afford.” They were a dirty lot, undisciplined and sometimes mutinous, and shabby; very few had anything resembling a uniform.

Still, the brigadier thought they had potential under the right leadership, as redcoat privates were notorious for being the same sort of material. If the men served under regular officers, they might amount to something. But the ragamuffin colonials would have no part of it; they liked their own officers and refused to serve under any others. Wentworth decided that they would play no role in the campaign, but instead of sending them home or leaving them in Jamaica, he took them along when the expedition sailed for Cartagena in February 1741.

The fleet carried about 8,000 regulars and marines along with the Americans. The redcoats went ashore in March, invested the harbor’s fort, then bogged down while Vernon and Wentworth wrangled over how to proceed. Sunstroke, malaria, and other tropical killers felled men one after the other. Finally, on April 9, Wentworth launched an attack that was so poorly conducted, the Spanish defenders shot it to pieces. The redcoats retreated, leaving behind 700 of their own to feed the local insects. They returned to the transports, where the idle Americans had also been dying en masse. Then the vómito negro (“black vomit,” or yellow fever) paid its annual visit to the region.

The expedition returned to Jamaica with only about 2,000 redcoats and 1,000 Americans still present and fit for duty. Two-thirds of some regiments were dead, including dozens of officers. “Our regiment has not recd that treatment we expected,” a Virginia captain wrote home in May 1741, “but I am resolved to persivere in the undertaking. War is horrid in fact, but much more so in imagination; we there learn’d to live on ordinary diet, to watch much, & disregard the noise, or shot of cannon.” He glossed over the fact that his men had not died fighting but instead doing nothing aboard ship.

Along with the other survivors of the catastrophe, this captain returned home during the summer of 1742. His name was Lawrence Washington, and he had a younger brother who welcomed him as a conquering hero.1

He Knew Little of His Father

Lawrence’s brother was born February 22, 1732, at Popes Creek Plantation, a snow-covered tobacco farm beside a wide, glittering tributary of the lower Potomac River in Virginia, and was christened George Washington. He was part of the fourth generation of Washingtons in Virginia, reaching back to 1657. His male forebears were an ambitious lot, each an orphan who expanded his estate through talent and hard work, only to die young and leave something for his own orphans.2

George’s father, Augustine, had continued that pattern after his father died in 1698, when “Gus” was four years old. He grew up to buy Popes Creek Plantation, another called Epsewasson upriver, and Ferry Farm across the Rappahannock from an iron mine he had bought near Fredericksburg. He married in 1715 and produced three sons (one of whom died an infant) and a daughter before his wife died in 1729. He remarried in 1731, to Mary Ball, who gave him four sons and a daughter.

The first was George, a stocky little fellow with reddish brown hair and blue eyes. He took after his father. One of Augustine’s friends remembered that Gus presented a “noble appearance, and most manly proportions, with the extraordinary development of muscular power for which his son was afterward so remarkable.” Gus had a reputation “for the mildness, courtesy, and amiability of his manners,” the friend continued. His strength was legendary, because he could pick up and load into a wagon a “mass of iron that two ordinary men could barely raise from the ground.” He may have stamped his physique on his son but little else. Years later George told an interviewer that “he knew little of his father, other than a remembrance of his person, and of his parental fondness.”3

That vague impression was owing to the fact that Augustine was a mostly absentee father; his first wife died when he was on a trip to England to round up backing for the iron mine. He was a nervous businessman, devoted to land speculation, prone to inviting lawsuits, and, as the years went on, increasingly hesitant and a procrastinator. He also deprived his younger children of a stable home. The family moved from Popes Creek to Epsewasson before George was three; there Gus built a story-and-a-half timber farmhouse on the foundations of an earlier structure. Within another three years, with the iron mine showing signs of playing out, Gus decided he needed to be on site if the operation stood any chance at all. So he bought 260 acres and leased about 300 more on the Rappahannock near the mine, called the land Ferry Farm, and moved his family there in 1738. He built yet another timber farmhouse, four rooms below, two above, ample but crowded, and definitely not elegant.4

This repeated shifting, followed by George’s own wandering during his teen years, may help to explain his fierce attachment to Mount Vernon once it became his. In the meantime, he gained a stable prop in his life in 1738 as the family was settling into Ferry Farm. His older half brother, Lawrence, age twenty, returned home from school in England, a model of grace, bearing, and manners. George was just six, but Lawrence became his instant hero, and others noticed that from the outset he emulated his brother.

Lawrence was a tall, dark, handsome young man who soon established a reputation in Virginia as likable, a genuine intellectual beyond his schooling, with good political sense but average business sense. He was properly deferential to his social betters and courteous to inferiors, the model of a Virginia gentleman. He had a lantern jaw, an oval face, big eyes, a curved mouth, and a high, broad brow. His thin neck and shoulders suggested weakness, but he was really very strong. He preferred horses to books, yet he was a cultured man who gave off an impression of wide learning.5

Lawrence did not stay at Ferry Farm long, because he went off to war in 1740, leaving George consumed by loneliness. When he returned in 1742, he established himself at Epsewasson overlooking the Potomac. It was destined to be his inheritance anyway, and it needed attention. Lawrence renamed the estate Mount Vernon, in honor of Admiral Vernon. George visited as often as he could, soaking in his brother’s tales of exotic places, the roar of cannons, and the incompetence of British generals and their disdain for provincials. Lawrence became adjutant of the Virginia militia, confirming his brother’s notions that he was a great military hero. Then calamity struck.

Even by the age of eleven, George had developed a pattern of staying away from home—meaning his domineering mother—as much as he could, visiting Lawrence and other relatives far and wide. In April 1743 he was with cousins on the lower Potomac when a messenger rode up with news that his father was suddenly very sick. By the time George reached Ferry Farm on April 12, his father was stretched out on a bed pending his burial. He may have been an absentee parent, but his sudden loss left an emptiness in George’s life, a vacuum that needed to be filled.6

Augustine’s will was probated in May. He left behind 10,000 acres of land in seven tracts, forty-nine slaves, and the iron mine. Lawrence, as the eldest son, got the lion’s share, including Epsewasson and the mine. George’s other half brother, Augustine, gained title to Popes Creek Plantation. George’s part included Ferry Farm, half a tract of 4,360 worthless acres on Deep Run, three town lots in Fredericksburg, and one-fifth interest in the residuary estate, divided among his mother, Mary, and her four sons. George and the others should receive control of their property when they turned twenty-one. As it turned out, George battled his own mother for three decades to get what belonged to him.7

Let Your Countenance Be Pleasant
but in Serious Matters Somewhat Grave

This was not Washington’s only conflict with his mother. When Gus died, she had five children still at Ferry Farm. George was the eldest, and his hopes for education in England were dashed by his father’s death. Mary would not have let him leave anyway, because from the time they were born she scarcely let the children out of sight, forbidding them from playing or doing chores farther than she could see them.

Mary Washington was a large, uneducated, frenetic woman with a foul mouth and an explosive temper; George probably inherited his own temper from her. She was also selfish and tyrannical. She lived into George’s presidency and gave every sign of being jealous of his fame. She made it widely known that she felt herself neglected when he was off fighting wars or governing the country.

She was once seen in Fredericksburg standing up in her carriage, beating her driver (a slave) with a whip, cursing him in language that would shame a sailor, for allegedly mishandling his horse. She made Washington’s home life a terror. One of his cousins called her “the presiding genius of her well-ordered household, commanding and being obeyed.” He added that he was “ten times more afraid” of her than he was of his own parents. When she was around, the boys, including George, “proper tall fellows,” were all “mute as mice.” George found every excuse to stay away from her. With Lawrence’s help, he even looked into joining the Royal Navy as a midshipman, but Mary put a stop to that.8

Mary Washington’s tyranny aside, Ferry Farm was typical of those Virginia farms whose owners occupied the midlevel of the colony’s social pyramid. The interior walls were whitewashed, but there were no pictures. There was, however, one mirror, a rare luxury in those days. The inventory at Gus’s death listed eleven leather-bottomed chairs, two tables, and one armchair. For meals there was plenty of china of modest value but no silver plate. Besides the four bedrooms housing eight beds, the parlor provided space for three more beds and storage. The meals were heavy on johnnycake and meat, with garden produce in season; everything eaten was grown on the property. The consumption of rum, beer, and wine was heavy—normal for the age and something Washington continued all his life.9

The atmosphere was more inviting at Mount Vernon, where Lawrence was building a new house. Lawrence more or less adopted George as a son, so the boy was welcome at his place. Social graces were always on display, along with books and a growing stock of fine furnishings. Lawrence’s next-door neighbor William Fairfax, master of Belvoir Plantation, was a frequent guest, and George soaked up their conversations about war and the future. They talked about their hopes of extending Virginia to the west beyond the Blue Ridge Mountains, aiming to get rich together speculating in frontier lands. Lawrence’s prospects brightened in 1743, when he married Fairfax’s daughter Anne, pretty and vivacious, a charming hostess, and thus established his connection to one of the Old Dominion’s great fortunes and its political power.10

George became a frequent guest at Belvoir and fell under the tutelage of William Fairfax. William was first cousin to Thomas Fairfax, sixth baron Fairfax of Cameron, born in 1693 and the proprietor, by royal grant, of the entire Northern Neck of Virginia (the area between the Potomac and Rappahannock rivers), along with other lands to the west, about 5 million acres in all. His claims faced constant attack by the Virginia legislature, which objected to one man’s controlling so much of the colony’s patrimony. Lord Fairfax fought his challengers at a distance until 1735, when he moved to Virginia. In 1747 he built a “castle” in the Shenandoah Valley and hired surveyors to perfect his claims. He was a case study in British aristocratic eccentricity because he had only two passions: He hated all women, and he loved horses. He was a bulky man with a thoughtful face that belied his peculiar notions. He dressed as a buckskinned frontiersman when he was at his own place, but when he visited Belvoir he was a model of English dress and deportment. William Fairfax, two years older than his cousin, had experience in the army and royal appointments in the colonies, and he was a proven administrator. In 1734 he accepted His Lordship’s offer to manage his Virginia properties. He built Belvoir in 1741.

William took an instant liking to George and dedicated considerable energy to watching over the boy’s development. He was a dignified, fatherly man, of middling height and build, whose elegant ways masked the fact that he was one of the most powerful political forces in the colony. George soon realized that the Fairfaxes were a clan he should cultivate if he wanted to get ahead.

Washington also became fast friends with George William Fairfax, William’s English-educated son and heir, just seven years older than himself. He was slightly built, with a square jaw, a hooked Roman nose, deep, wide-set dark eyes, and an unusually dark (for an Englishman) complexion. This sparked rumors that he was mulatto, his mother being born in the Bahamas, which may have contributed to his relative timidity compared to the rest of his family. The friendship of the two boys—and that of Washington with the older Fairfaxes—was real. It lasted through the Revolution and beyond, as Washington took over the management of the Fairfax properties after the family returned to England.11

Then there was Belvoir itself, the great mansion overlooking the Potomac, just visible from Mount Vernon. It was aristocratic England transplanted to the American wilderness—the materials, workmen, and splendid furnishings all brought over from the old country. In contrast to Ferry Farm’s parlor, which served as an extra bedroom, that at Belvoir was a large room filled with expensive mahogany and plush furniture and dominated by an enormous mirror above the mantel. Washington described the house as “of brick, two stories high, with four convenient rooms and a large passage on the lower floor; five rooms and large passage on the second; servant’s hall and cellar below.” It was the centerpiece of a large and productive complex that included offices, stables, and a coach house. A “large and well-furnished garden” yielded “a great variety of fruits all in good order.”12

Washington wanted to live like that, in a splendid house adorned with splendid decor, inhabited by people with impeccable manners and an air of natural superiority. He also wanted to dress as well as the Fairfaxes, their garments tailor-made in England, and so he became meticulous about his appearance. Proper dress and grooming contributed to the commanding presence and air of dignity—some said nobility—that so impressed everyone who saw him in his later career.13

Lawrence and William set out to turn young George into a member of Virginia’s ruling class. There were two avenues to follow: formal education and social grooming. Schooling in England was foreclosed by Augustine’s death—the family did not have enough money for that—and there were limited opportunities in Virginia, especially in the isolated Northern Neck. Washington attended a country school for a while, and Lawrence hired a tutor who did not stay long. His education in the formal sense was over by the time he was fifteen, its most notable influence a solid grounding in mathematics, especially geometry and trigonometry. Otherwise, supported by the libraries at Mount Vernon and Belvoir, and with guidance from his brother and William Fairfax, Washington established his lifelong habit as a self-educator. Virginia grandees were greatly influenced by the classics, especially the Romans, and Washington read such works as the Morals of Seneca. That first-century Stoic emphasized the virtues of sacrifice, along with courage, persistence, and self-control; he called anger “the most outrageous, brutal, dangerous, and intractable of all passions.” Given Washington’s volcanic temper, he took that to heart.

Another influence was Joseph Addison’s play Cato, about the Roman republican who chose suicide over bowing to the will of Caesar, a lesson about service and devotion to one’s country. Washington saw it performed several times in later life, and he often quoted from it. It is also likely that during this period he first read Caesar’s Commentaries on the Wars in Gaul, a readable adventure in its own right, which in the eighteenth-century was regarded by military men as a valuable treatise on their art. Along with British literature and other classics, Lawrence and William steered George’s reading to inspire him to emulate Roman models of patriotism and virtue, so he would know the public responsibilities of landed gentry and the nobility of character expected of a man of high station. This was not scholarly learning so much as training for aristocratic leadership.14

Lawrence and Fairfax also gave George copybook exercises, which produced the most famous work in his childish hand, copied from The Rules of Civility & Decent Behaviour in Company and Conversation, a boy’s guide to good manners. It had been assembled in the previous century by Jesuits providing guidance to young French nobles, and in translation it served British nobles and American would-be nobility. The rules began: “Every action done in company ought to be with some sign of respect to those that are present.” They continued through decent comportment (“In the presence of others, sing not to yourself with a humming noise nor drum with your fingers or feet”; and “Kill not vermin, as fleas, lice, ticks, etc., in the sight of others”) and such subjects as table manners (“Cleanse not your teeth with the tablecloth”), to general instructions on treating people considerately. George learned to show deference to superiors and kindness to inferiors. As for those in the middle, “Keep to the fashion of your equals.” And there was this: “Let your countenance be pleasant but in serious matters somewhat grave,” advice Washington followed his whole life.15

That Washington took these rules to heart there is no doubt; in later years he often coined or repeated maxims when he advised the young. Not as well known was another copybook exercise aimed at preparing him for the practical aspects of being an aristocrat. This was “Forms of Writing,” from which he copied templates for twenty-eight legal or financial documents, including a receipt for a hogshead of tobacco, a land patent, a warrant, a bail bond, a contract between a master and an indentured servant, and something else useful in his family tradition, “a general release by a minor to the administrators of his father’s estate.” It was not a complete education in the law, but it was as much as a gentleman might need.16

Washington was clearly driven by social ambition by the time he reached his teens. He learned that he must above all aim to earn his country’s honor if he wanted to advance. This was not just a matter of behaving properly, but of being approved of by honorable gentlemen. Getting rich or owning a lot of land would not elevate him to the top. He had to earn the respect of those already there.

The top was where the rulers were in Virginia’s stratified society, and subjects were below. The upper class indulged in various rituals to reinforce the principle that hierarchy was the natural order of things. The notion of honor, Washington discovered, applied only to white gentlemen, not to women, poor whites, or slaves; these were all regarded as irresponsible and childlike, so their betters should look after them as fathers would. Hence, only the top tier of Virginia society should hold sway in public affairs.

The Virginia gentleman saw himself as independent on his estate, lord over his tenants, servants, slaves, and women. From that base he could assume political office and power, and that was what young Washington aimed for: enough land and wealth to join that rarefied circle, buttressed by an honorable reputation however earned. He did not yet realize, however, that the Virginia aristocracy was more dominated by outside powers, especially British politicians and businessmen, than its denizens could admit. Washington was preparing to take high place in a dream world.17

Part of what he had to learn to enter the upper reaches of society was how to control the explosive temper he had inherited from his mother. He cultivated a sternly reserved manner, bordering on iciness, and trained himself (with only partial success) to not take public offense at what others said or did. He wanted to be admired, respected by honorable men, but outside of his small circle he did not crave popularity.

He acquired another skill during this period. Thanks to the stables at Mount Vernon he became a superb horseman; several observers in later years called him the best they had ever seen. This ability was improved further when Fairfax imported a pack of foxhounds, and Washington developed a passion for foxhunting. He seemed to come by his equestrian talents almost naturally. His wife’s grandson related a family yarn about how he overcame a “fierce and ungovernable” horse. When George leaped aboard, the horse began bucking ferociously, and onlookers feared the rider would be killed. However, “the gallant horse, summoning all his powers to one mighty effort, reared, and plunged with tremendous violence, burst his noble heart, and died in an instant.” Washington usually took good care of his animals, and the grandson’s tale evoked one about the boy who became Alexander the Great, but it might have been true.18

As his education continued, Washington underwent a teenage growth spurt, almost reaching his final rawboned height of six foot three. He was shaving by the age of sixteen, and already he showed signs of becoming a clothes horse. In the parlor at Belvoir he became adept at the card games whist and loo (his favorite, and he usually won) and billiards, and in 1748 he also took dancing lessons. But he knew he had much yet to learn. He was still a boy, but close enough to manhood to begin looking for an honorable profession to support himself and his ambitions. William Fairfax pointed the way.19

There Was Neither a Cloth Upon the Table
nor a Knife to Eat With

Fairfax needed a surveyor, and he would continue to need one for the foreseeable future. The royal grant of land to the Fairfaxes had been a source of contention since it was made in 1649. As Virginia’s population and its hunger for “unimproved” lands grew in the eighteenth century, the dispute only became more bitter. However, land-hungry grandees might cease their battle with the Fairfaxes if they could get access to other lands in the west, leaping over the Fairfax proprietary claims.

In 1744, the Virginia government sent a delegation to a conference at Lancaster, Pennsylvania, involving the governments of Pennsylvania and Maryland and delegates from the Six Nations of the Iroquois League. This was the culmination of eight years of negotiations between Pennsylvania and the Iroquois, founded on a claim in the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713 that the Iroquois were subjects of the British crown. They never accepted that, but over the decades they had worked out a “Covenant Chain” of understandings with royal authorities in New York that was just short of an alliance. The British acknowledged Iroquois claims to sovereignty over—and hence to being spokesmen for—the Shawnees, Delawares, and several other nations they claimed as clients, who in turn refused to accept that status.

By the terms of the bargain worked out in 1744, Virginia granted the Iroquois the right to pass through the province to make war against the Cherokees and Catawbas of South Carolina, a deal sweetened by a hefty diplomatic gift. In return, the Iroquois ceded all the League’s lands within Pennsylvania, Maryland, and Virginia; the lands the Iroquois ceded belonged to other nations. Moreover, the Iroquois intended to surrender to Virginia only lands in the Shenandoah Valley, believing that Virginia’s boundaries extended no farther. The Virginians, on the other hand, interpreted the cession to include lands beyond the Allegheny Mountains, in particular those in the Ohio Valley.

The Treaty of Lancaster was a swindle all around. When the Ohio Indians learned of it, they were outraged. So were the French, who had their own claims to the disputed lands. But it was a happy event for Lord Fairfax and other land-hungry Virginia aristocrats. In 1745 the King’s Council (the upper house of the Virginia assembly) recognized the Fairfax land grant in its entirety and shortly began making expansive grants of Ohio lands to syndicates of grandees.20

No gentlemen at the time foresaw trouble emerging from these developments. Instead, they spied opportunity. Virginia’s gentry depended on land speculation, because the mainstay of their economy—tobacco growing—mined the land, leaving it nearly sterile. Virginia planters typically ignored the English custom of primogeniture and entail: the passing on of estates undivided to only the eldest sons. Eldest sons, such as Lawrence Washington, did get the major parts of estates, but most gentry passed on some land and slaves to younger offspring, as happened with George.

The need to find unimproved land to replace that worn out by tobacco—not to mention places to keep slaves productively employed—the dividing of estates among younger sons, and the growth of the population created a demand for new lands. Since getting a land grant required approval by the governor and Council, wealthier Virginians cultivated political influence by holding offices in new counties and getting themselves elected to the House of Burgesses, the lower house of the assembly. From those positions they could gain vast grants of royal lands for fairly small sums, providing they promised to settle farmers on their new holdings. This in turn meant collecting rents and selling off both improved and unimproved plots. Steady acquisition of large landholdings, therefore, provided a more reliable source of wealth and future income than farming alone.

There was a catch: All grants and purchases had to be platted by a licensed surveyor who was paid according to an official schedule of fees, or the claims could not be recorded and patented. Surveyors had no trouble collecting their fees, because without their plats and reports the speculators’ claims were worthless. Moreover, surveyors in newly opened lands were ahead of the market when it came to finding the best properties, and therefore they could acquire lands of their own. Surveying, accordingly, was a respectable, honorable, and rewarding occupation. Small wonder that Lawrence encouraged George to take it up.21

Augustine Washington had been a surveyor, and George had access to his father’s instruments: a circumferentor (an eighteenth-century predecessor of the theodolite and an expensive precision instrument), chains, drawing boards and instruments, and so on. He began taking lessons from local surveyors as early as 1746 and passed his first tests on simple tasks on August 18, 1747. Soon he passed more complicated ones, and he worked as an assistant to licensed surveyors, for the first time in his life earning pocket money.22

In March 1748, William Fairfax hired James Genn, surveyor of Prince William County, to plat some of the Fairfax lands in the Shenandoah Valley. The party included two chainmen, a marker, and a pilot. Washington and George William Fairfax tagged along, their roles not specified, but there was always something for extra hands to do. Washington recorded this journey in the first of his diaries, a habit he continued for the rest of his life.23

It was a grand adventure, and Washington not only learned more about surveying but also that he loved being in wild country. It was a rough trip, over a month in cold, early spring weather, and the sixteen-year-old enjoyed almost every minute of it. The first day the party covered forty miles on horseback, and the next day it crossed the Blue Ridge to the Shenandoah River. “Nothing remarkable happen’d,” he recorded. The journal filled up with descriptions of the landscape, especially its agricultural potential. Already his eye was that of a land speculator.

There was a lot of hard work in cold, wet weather. On March 15, after an especially rough day, the party stayed in a squatter’s shack. “I not being so good a woodsman as the rest of my company,” Washington said, he stripped himself “very orderly” and went to his bed “as they call’d it,” which turned out to be “nothing but a little straw—matted together without sheets or any thing else but only one thread bear blanket with double its weight of vermin such as lice fleas &c.” Predictably, he was glad to get up, put on his clothes, and join his companions on the bare floor. He vowed that he would not again sleep indoors, “chuising rather to sleep in the open air before a fire.” But the next night the party stayed in Frederick, where they had a good dinner with “wine & rum punch in plenty & a good feather bed with clean sheets which was a very agreeable regale.”

Unexpected events made the trip an adventure. After traveling up the upper Potomac on “the worst road that ever was trod by man or beast” on March 21, there followed two days of heavy rain. When the sky cleared on the afternoon of the 23rd, the party was “agreeably surpris’d at the sight of thirty odd Indians coming from war with only one scalp.” They gave them some liquor, “elevating there springs [and] put them in the humour of dauncing of whom we had a war dauncing.” The Indians performed a circle dance choreographed in advance by a “speaker.” Washington called it “comicle.”

The party trudged on, fording swollen rivers and cursing the wretched weather. On the 26th, the surveyors were invited to supper by a justice of the peace of Frederick County. “When we came to supper,” said the horrified youngster, “there was neither a cloth upon the table nor a knife to eat with but as good luck would have it we had knives of [our] own.” Belvoir this backwoods judge’s house was not.

So young Washington was a snob. He showed greater disdain a few days later when he encountered German settlers on the South Branch of the Potomac. He called them “as ignorant a set of people as the Indians.” They would “never speak English but when spoken to they speak all Dutch [German].” The weather was the worst burden of the journey, however. April 2 ended with a “blowing & rainy night. Our straw catch’d a fire that we were laying upon & was luckily preserv’d by one of men awaking.” The next night was worse, “much more blostering . . . we had our tent carried quite of[f] with the wind and was obliged to lie the latter part of the night without covering.” The tent blew away again on April 4, and so it went until the group headed home. “This day,” said the last entry in the journal, “see a rattled snake the first we had seen in all our journey.”

Washington was hooked on the surveyor’s life. His background in mathematics was reflected in his survey plats and later drawings for forts to be constructed on the frontier. Neat, clear, free of distractions, they reveal him as a born engineer. He continued training under established surveyors and gained experience supervising others, usually older than he was but of a lower social status.

A stroke of fortune hit in May 1749 when the Virginia assembly appointed trustees to oversee the establishment of a port city at Bellhaven near the head of navigation on the Potomac; the new city would be named Alexandria. Three Fairfaxes were among the trustees, and they wanted to get the town platted and sold quickly. The surveyor was John West Jr., but the Fairfax connection made Washington West’s assistant, and he actually did most of the work. By the middle of July Washington had platted the town, and the lots went on the market. Then on July 31, Washington accepted appointment as the surveyor of Culpeper County, after receiving his commission from the president and masters of the College of William and Mary and swearing the required oath. He began earning more money than he had ever seen, enough within a year to buy his first plantation, a thousand acres in two parcels on Bullskin Creek in the Shenandoah.

Further acquisitions followed as Washington surveyed furiously for profit. And profit there should be, because his principal client, thanks to William Fairfax, promised to be the Ohio Company of Virginia, which had grand ideas about opening the west.24

His Movements and Gestures Are Graceful, His Walk Majestic

Lawrence Washington, William Fairfax, and other Virginians began talking as early as 1747 about forming a “company of gentlemen and adventurers,” as joint-stock corporations were called, to speculate in Ohio lands and take the Indian fur trade away from the French and the Pennsylvanians. Lawrence brought his brother Augustine and other Virginians into the deal, while Fairfax became a silent partner, his son George William representing the family. What they aimed at required royal authority, so the Virginians brought prominent Londoners into the picture, in particular the three Hanbury brothers, who were rich merchants, and the duke of Bedford, who had an in at court. Thomas Lee of Virginia was the first president of the company, and before it formally came into existence its members already included others bearing names to reckon with in the colony. When a new lieutenant governor, Robert Dinwiddie, arrived from England in 1751, he also received a seat at the table.

John Hanbury presented the petition of the Ohio Company of Virginia at court in London on January 11, 1749, seeking a grant of 200,000 acres and asking for another 300,000 if the company met the terms of the original grant. The terms were to settle 100 families in the requested lands, “free of quit rent [a feudal fee for occupation of land] for ten years” on condition that they erected a fort and maintained a garrison to protect the settlement. Hanbury passed shares in the company around in the right places, so this offer was too good for the crown to pass up, promising reward at home while the Virginians bore any risk. On March 16 the Privy Council recommended granting the petition, the king agreed, and the acting governor of Virginia, William Good, was instructed to transfer to the company 200,000 acres “to the westward of the great mountains within the colony of Virginia.” Good made the transfer on July 12, 1749.25

At the same time, Good and his Council made another grant of Ohio lands to the Loyal Company, whose investors included John Robinson, speaker of the House of Burgesses. As always in Virginia, one faction or another used the power of government to feather its own nest. But other Virginians were not the Ohio Company’s biggest challenge, because it faced competition from the well-established network of Pennsylvania Indian traders in the Ohio Valley, objections from the government of New France, and most of all resistance from Delaware (Leni-Lenape) Indians who did not much care for the idea of English settlements in their territory.

The Ohio Company had naively believed that it could take over the west on the cheap, building a trading storehouse at Wills Creek, Maryland, across the Potomac from the Shenandoah Valley, and a fort at the “Forks of the Ohio” (present-day Pittsburgh), where the Allegheny and Monongahela join to form the Ohio River. The flock of hoped-for settlers did not materialize, and securing advanced posts would require investments in fortifications and armed men, not to mention diplomatic gifts to the Indians.

Faced down by the Delawares, the company postponed going as far as the Forks and settled on a strong storehouse at Wills Creek. Pennsylvania traders and French agents may have played some role, but the Delawares were masters of their own fate. They had already been cheated out of much of their lands in eastern Pennsylvania, and they quite reasonably interpreted the company’s plans as an invasion and potential loss of what remained to them. “Those very Indians that had encouraged [the company] at first,” Thomas Lee complained, “had been persuaded that our design was to ruin, not to trade with them; and such a spirit of jealousy is raised among them that without a treaty and presents we shall not be able to do anything with them.” That was part and parcel of Indian diplomacy, but either the company leaders did not understand that, or they were too stingy to follow established customs. A discouraged Lee gave up the Ohio Company presidency in 1750, handing it to Lawrence Washington.26

Virginia politics also complicated anything these “adventurers” wanted to do. Landowners elected the House of Burgesses, which in turn elected most of the members of the King’s Council; in effect, picking the most powerful members of the gentry to cooperate with the governor in running the colony.

In reality there was no governor, except in name. The governorship was a sinecure for high nobles fluttering around the British throne. The earl of Albemarle held that position from 1737 to 1754, when he resigned to become ambassador to France; he was succeeded by Lord Loudoun. Neither ever set foot in the colony. The lieutenant governor, therefore, held the reins of power, or as much power as the burgesses did not snatch from him. He bought his office from the nominal governor but received a salary of £2,000 and perquisites of £400, along with a brick house in Williamsburg grandly called the “governor’s palace.” He had many titular powers, among them serving as “commander-in-chief and vice-admiral” of the colony, and appointed all but the lowest militia officers, but he did not have authority to declare war. The lieutenant governor could extract fees and kickbacks from his official duties, but he was in a constant struggle with the burgesses, who jealously guarded their power of taxation.27

The Ohio Company had received its grant during a power vacuum. Long-time lieutenant governor Sir William Gooch died in June 1749 and was succeeded by local officials acting in the position. Robert Dinwiddie bought the post from Albemarle in July 1751 and arrived in Williamsburg in November. Born in Scotland in 1693, he prospered there as a merchant before becoming an imperial bureaucrat in a succession of royal offices in Bermuda and on the American mainland. He knew how to make money, and it showed in his amply padded frame and heavily brocaded, elegantly tailored London suits. His face had an unusually high and broad forehead, balanced at the other end by multiple chins, between which sat a straight mouth reflecting his determination to have his way, a long nose, and deep-set, almost philosophical gray eyes closely guarded by curving eyebrows. It was the face of a man who liked to eat, accented by apple cheeks. He favored gray court periwigs, an English fashion going out of favor in America.28

Dinwiddie could be a gruff man, and he guarded his prerogatives, so he had one conflict after another with the House of Burgesses, which he usually prorogued (dismissed) if it did not do his bidding. A newcomer who failed to fit into the existing high society, he was often accused of favoring fellow Scots too much in patronage, appointments, and contracts. Yet he stayed in office until poor health sent him home late in 1757, and he kept Virginia afloat financially through its first foreign war.

One dispute persisted throughout his years in the colony. He discovered early on that men of influence received “orders” from the King’s Council issuing land patents in a manner that dodged the required fee for the patent and for quitrent on the land; there were also cases where some of Virginia’s finest gamed this system to swindle less fortunate men out of their land. The lieutenant governor was entitled by law to a fee of one pistole (a small gold coin) for validating each patent. This was one of his office’s most rewarding benefits, so Dinwiddie demanded that a patent be issued when orders were approved, and that he be paid the authorized fee for each patent he signed and validated with the colony’s seal. This position put him into extended and almost violent conflict with burgesses involved in speculation, often interrupting the colony’s business.29

Washington steered mostly clear of the muddy little village of Williamsburg while he was building an estate that would let him run for a seat in the Burgesses, for which he would first be legally old enough in 1753. His hoped-for surveys in the Ohio Company land grant were frustrated by the failure of the company to establish itself there. Still, William Fairfax had plenty for him to do, and he continued surveying and staking claims of his own in the Shenandoah Valley. He hated the settlers he dealt with, calling them “a parcel of barbarians . . . an uncouth set of people.” He was still a snob where the “lower” classes were concerned. So he tended to his own affairs, making enough money to loan some to relatives and to necessitate the start of the financial ledgers he would compile for the rest of his life.30

Pursuing a high place in society might consume his consciousness, but Washington was still a boy. Everything old was new to the adolescent, hence confusing. One of life’s facts that came upon him at this time was sex. The other was death, still frightening after the loss of his father.

Sex reared its lovely head late in 1748, when Washington was sixteen, in the form of George William Fairfax’s new bride, Sarah (Sally) Cary, the beautiful eighteen-year-old daughter of one of Virginia’s richest families, which had other beautiful daughters and cousins at home in Alexandria. Slim, dark-haired, with a striking long face, rosy cheeks, deep-set eyes, a noble nose, and a wide mouth set in a Mona Lisa smile, she radiated intelligence and sex appeal, making her the object of male attention from a very early age. She was an accomplished flirt—but then, this was the golden age of flirting among the highborn on both sides of the Atlantic. She used her coquetry to dominate the men around her; into old age she was an accomplished tease who enjoyed tormenting as well as manipulating.

Washington suffered his first crush when he saw her. Ever since a 1758 letter to her (discussed below) was discovered in 1877, historians and gossips have speculated that George had an affair with Sally. That seems unlikely—no contemporary evidence suggests such a thing—on several accounts. First, all his life he enjoyed flirting with pretty girls. (He was flirting with Peggy Arnold when her husband, Benedict’s, treason came to light in 1780.) Second, in the small society of the Virginia gentry, an affair could not escape notice, and even a hint would generate gossip. Third, the high ethical standards he cultivated would not let him cheat on his friend. Fourth, if all that drove him was an urge to empty his prostate—and with sixteen-year-old boys that is usually what it amounts to—he had the ancient option of self-treatment. And, finally, for a member of the slaveholding class, sexual release was as close as the nearest slave cabin, although evidence that Washington took advantage of that is also lacking.

In fact, Belvoir was always host to pretty girls. Washington occasionally visited the Cary household with its collection of beauties, and in his travels during the 1750s he encountered many other eligible, lovely daughters of his hosts. Washington made halfhearted efforts through the 1750s to court several young women and was not greatly disappointed by his failures. His libido may have been low, or he may have been too shy, or he was so absorbed in his advancement that he could think of little else, or he may have been on the watch for a match that suited his own interests. In any case, it appears that the young Washington simply behaved himself as a gentleman should.31

Death crept back into Washington’s life more gradually. His brother Lawrence came down with a serious cough in the spring of 1749. When he went to the session of the Burgesses in May, the cough was so violent that the speaker sent him home. Worse, at about the same time the third of his children followed the first two to the grave. Lawrence recovered some, and the next year George took him to some hot springs (now Berkeley Springs, West Virginia) that he had surveyed in 1748. The place was mobbed by other sufferers, and George thought it was too shaded and gloomy, but Lawrence got better. George, meanwhile, spent the time there taking on lucrative surveying jobs, then returned to surveying in Fairfax County.

Lawrence had come down with tuberculosis, which in its early stages can come and go. It returned again in the summer of 1751, and the brothers made another trip to the hot springs, during which time George spent another profitable season surveying and claiming lands. But Lawrence did not recover this time, so in September the two of them went to Barbados. George loved the island but hated ocean travel; while there he came down with smallpox, fortunately a mild case that left only a few scars and gave him immunity to this killer. Later that winter the brothers split up, George returning to Virginia, Lawrence moving to Bermuda. They were together again at Mount Vernon by spring—that is, when George was not out surveying.

Lawrence died on July 26, 1752, leaving behind a daughter and his wife. George became one of six executors of the estate, its affairs so tangled that it took much of the next decade to sort them out. George and his half brother Augustine split the residuary estate. If Lawrence’s widow and daughter died, or the daughter if the widow remarried (she did), Mount Vernon and other Fairfax County properties would go to George. He got title to Mount Vernon in 1761.32

Washington’s continued pursuit of his own interests during his brother’s illness did not reflect callousness so much as his drive and ambition. Still, he was orphaned again, deprived of the closest thing to a father he had ever known. There remained his patron William Fairfax, but he had children and concerns of his own, although he offered Washington guidance on every manner of subject for the next decade. Nevertheless, the emptiness that followed Gus’s death had returned. Washington was on his own.

He continued his drive to society’s top. One step was to join the Freemasons, although he was still a minor and technically ineligible. On November 4, 1752, he was initiated in Fredericksburg Lodge No. 4. He passed his exams on March 3, 1753, and was raised to the Sublime Degree of Master Mason (“Third Degree”) on August 4. This was a social organization that every gentleman felt obliged to join. Washington attended only one more meeting in 1753 and another in 1755, and although he remained a member he was inactive until the 1770s. He was more active thereafter, but as with church he seldom attended meetings. His funeral, however, was Masonic.33

A more important avenue into Virginia’s hierarchy was through the militia. With Fairfax’s support, Washington started lobbying for Lawrence’s position as adjutant, a supervising inspector, even before his brother died. The colony had spread out far enough that the single adjutancy should be divided among districts. On November 6, the governor and Council established four militia districts. Washington wanted the one for the Northern Neck where he lived, but he had a powerful rival for that post, although the man actually lived in Maryland. The governor gave him instead the southern district, from the James River to the North Carolina line, with pay of £100 per year. This was purely a result of political influence, because Washington had absolutely no military experience, not even in the militia. It was, for him, the honor of the thing.

His commission from the governor, dated December 13, appointed him “major and adjutant of the militia, horse and foot,” in ten southern counties. Washington took his oath before the court of Spotsylvania County on February 10, 1753. His duties were not much, as least at first. The governor and Council had ordered a general muster for September, before which the adjutants must exercise the county officers so they could exercise their men. Washington had not the slightest clue what to do and began reading tactical manuals.34

George never visited any of the counties in his district that year. Events intervened. News of Pickawillany reached Williamsburg during the early summer of 1752, in the form of letters from the Miami survivors to the governors of Virginia and Pennsylvania asking for help in their struggle against the French. They described themselves as “lost people, fearing that our brothers will leave us, but before we will be subject to the French, or call them our fathers, we will perish here.” Pennsylvania, alarmed that its traders had been driven out of the west, voted some monetary assistance but little else. Virginia’s government hesitated. Word arrived the following winter that the Miamis had concluded an alliance with the French, and in the spring of 1753 it became known that the French were building forts in the Ohio Country. Rumors spread that Dinwiddie would send an ultimatum to the French, ordering them to leave British territory, so as early as spring (before that decision had been made), Washington showed up in Williamsburg volunteering to deliver the message. He got the job at the end of October.35

Who was this young man in the red uniform of a militia major, who thought he could challenge a foreign power? George Mercer, who served with Washington through the 1750s, left a vivid portrait:

Straight as an Indian, measuring six feet two inches in his stockings and weighing 175 pounds . . . His frame is padded with well-developed muscles, indicating great strength. His bones and joints are large, as are his hands and feet. He is wide shouldered but has not a deep or round chest; is neat waisted, but is broad across the hips and has rather long legs and arms. His head is well-shaped, though not large, but is gracefully poised on a superb neck. A large and straight rather than a prominent nose; blue gray penetrating eyes which are widely separated and overhung by a heavy brow. His face is long rather than broad, with high round cheek bones, and terminates in a good firm chin. He has clear though rather colorless pale skin which burns with the sun. A pleasing and benevolent though a commanding countenance, dark brown hair which he wears in a cue. His mouth is large and generally firmly closed, but which from time to time discloses some defective teeth. His features are regular and placid with all the muscles of his face under perfect control, though flexible and expressive of deep feeling when moved by emotions. In conversation he looks you full in the face, is deliberate, deferential, and engaging. His demeanor at all times composed and dignified. His movements and gestures are graceful, his walk majestic, and he is a splendid horseman.36



TWO
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THE NATIONS OF
THESE COUNTRIES ARE
VERY ILL-DISPOSED (1600–1753)


It was a feature peculiar to the colonial wars of North America that the toils and dangers of the wilderness were to be encountered before the adverse hosts could meet.

—JAMES FENIMORE COOPER

The English believed that North America was a “desert,” which before the nineteenth century meant an uninhabited region, what moderns call “wilderness.” The Indians did not count; or, as a British officer said in the 1750s, the western lands were “a desolate country uninhabited by anything but wild Indians, bears and rattlesnakes.”1

The forest was what is now called an oak-hickory type of mixed hardwoods, with islands of pines. In the eighteenth century it was a chestnut-oak-hickory type, because the majestic American chestnut, which became extinct from imported disease during the twentieth century, was the Emperor of the Forest. There were also American elm (now extinct), walnut, locust, poplar, laurel, larch, hemlock, and a dazzling wider array including sugar maple along with the oaks and hickory. The actual mix of species on any one plot depended on local environmental conditions. These were mostly old-growth trees that measured ten and even twenty feet in diameter. Much of the forest was choked at ground level by thick tangles of understory—much, but not all. “After quitting that camp we came upon a more open country,” Captain Francis Peyton of the Virginia Regiment wrote in 1755, “and our roads were less difficult, for there was no undergrowth.” Christopher Gist explored beyond the mountains in the early 1750s and raved about the “good level farming land, with fine meadows” interrupting the “great thickets.”2

This rich and varied plantscape supported an equally rich and varied animal population: bear, deer, woodland buffalo, wolves, wildcats, wolverines, groundhogs, beavers, squirrels, turkeys, buzzards, an astounding variety of songbirds, ducks and geese in season, and great flocks of passenger pigeons. There were also ticks, flies in wondrous variety, mites, biting gnats, and other little critters. Algae-covered ponds breathed out clouds of mosquitoes and dragonflies and hosted swarms of leeches. The rivers teemed with trout, catfish, sturgeon, shad, eels, and other edible fish.

This abundant animal life reflected variations in forest cover, with game animals thriving on the edges of woods growing the kinds of trees that littered the ground with seeds and nuts. The many “meadows,” grassy open areas, kept the forest from being a solid mass of trees; the extent of meadows was so great that much of the eastern part of the continent was open. Travelers in the Ohio Valley described the landscape as “park-like” or “savannah.” Meadows were products of various causes. Beavers felled substantial areas of trees, then flooded the open space with their dams. Soil conditions, especially moisture, inhibited tree growth in some places. Violent thunderstorms, including tornadoes, felled great swaths of timber, which after it dried caught fire; soils baked in such fires might not produce trees for decades, just grass, forbs, and brush.

The principal agents in opening the forests, however, were Indians who had actively managed the landscape of North America for more than 10,000 years. Their chief tool was fire, and with it they cultivated nature as actively as they tended their crops. They had several objects in view, the chief one in the east being to increase forest-grassland edges favored by game. Another aim was to clear out underbrush, promoting the growth of berries that fed man and beast. Burning also reduced populations of poisonous snakes, ticks, and mosquitoes, and such annoyances as poison ivy.

Captain Peyton described the change in ground cover he trudged through; he did not understand that he had passed from forest that might be in contention between nations into an active hunting ground. He and other English did not understand the forest, and accordingly they did not understand the Indians. The Indians knew the landscape intimately, and how to use it in warfare.3

Pays d’en Haut

Washington knew a little about the geography in 1753 but next to nothing about the history and interests of the people inhabiting it. The century following the “discovery” of America by Christopher Columbus in 1492 devastated the natives, especially through diseases to which the people had no resistance. The population north of the Rio Grande shrank from somewhere between 4 and 16 million to a few hundred thousand by 1600, after which it recovered in part.4

The great Mississippian culture that had dominated the Mississippi and Ohio drainages had collapsed, leaving behind new nations engaged in ceaseless warfare with each other. Still, there was by 1600 a general pattern of relatively stable new societies living off a combination of farming, hunting, and gathering, although many of them shifted their locations occasionally. Then non-Hispanic Europeans showed up on the edge of this world and stayed—the French in the northeast, the English southward along the coast. Smallpox and other European plagues drove through the Ohio Valley again, followed by the trade in furs, especially beaver pelts. Indians became increasingly dependent on European manufactured goods, from blankets to pots and weapons. Trade also introduced alcohol and started an arms race in Indian country.5

There were wars between Indians and the English and French invaders, with important differences. The numerous English colonists wanted land and viewed the Indians as obstacles, so wars of the seventeenth century became wars of extermination. The English burned Indian towns and crops and killed or enslaved women and children, slaughtering males while they were at it. The aim was to drive the natives away with superior firepower.6

The French arrived in fewer numbers, seeking trade more than land, and in the early years they were most interested in spreading their religion. They formed alliances with selected nations but learned that to uphold their side of a partnership they had to help fight their allies’ enemies. To avoid getting too embroiled in wars among the Indians, the French presented themselves as mediators, inviting all nations to call them “father,” a term in many Indian societies for a respected elder who resolved disputes.7

Warfare among some nations was nearly constant, but before white colonization the Indians engaged in highly ritualized conflicts that limited carnage. Usually the goal was to take captives and high-status trophies (scalps or heads) or booty. Especially among Iroquoian-speaking peoples, these were “mourning” wars, aimed at taking captives to replace lost loved ones with the newcomers adopted into the families that held them. The taking of captives also cemented kinship relations among nations. Captives were typically women and children, although not always. Dangerous adult male captives were often tortured to death. This honored them with a chance to demonstrate their bravery and ability to withstand pain, spiritual virtues absorbed by the captors. The pattern of raid and captivity was general all across North America.8
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